

## **RECRUITING AND SELECTING**

# ACADEMIC HEALTH SCIENCES LIBRARY DIRECTORS:

# A GUIDE

**Revised Edition** 

Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries (AAHSL)

Seattle, Washington, 2017

© Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries, 2017

This document may be reproduced for the noncommercial purpose of scientific or educational advancement.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
INTRODUCTION	4
ACADEMIC HEALTH SCIENCES ENVIRONMENT	5
ROLE OF DIRECTOR	6
ANALYSIS OF VACANCY	8
SEARCH COMMITTEE	10
POSITION QUALIFICATIONS	11
RECRUITING CANDIDATES	12
SCREENING APPLICANTS	14
INTERVIEWS	16
NEGOTIATION AND APPOINTMENT	18
REFERENCES	20
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	21
SALARIES	22
JOB POSTINGS	23

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The director of an academic health sciences library has multifaceted responsibilities and interacts with a wide range of constituencies in an environment of increasing technical, financial, and political complexity. Directors must be knowledgeable about information issues and able to envision the future of the library and work to achieve that future. Consequently, the job demands a unique combination of leadership skills and experience. The Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries (AAHSL) has produced this guide to assist university administrators and search committees with the recruitment process. Although each institution is unique, the guide attempts to provide information that can be applied to specific circumstances.

A vacancy in the director's position affords an opportunity for the institution to examine its current needs and the future direction of library and information management services. The analysis will determine the background and skills needed in a director as well as help the institution describe the environment to candidates. The guide discusses how institutions may incorporate expert advice in their analysis of the position.

The search committee should be appointed as soon as possible. Although the composition will vary according to local circumstances, it should be representative of the constituencies the library supports and include members with library expertise. Effective communication by the search committee with candidates is crucial to the success of the recruitment process.

The vacancy description will be a useful aid throughout the recruitment process. It communicates to candidates the vision of the position, shapes the applicant pool, and is a guide for evaluation of candidates. Search committees should undertake a range of recruitment approaches to maximize the pool and diversity of qualified candidates, including broad-scale advertising and focused contacts. The guide includes recommendations for where to post jobs.

Search committees will want to evaluate applications by emphasizing unique criteria in addition to those they might use for other senior administrative positions in the academic health center. These include evaluation of how candidates evidence leadership ability, their capability of relating to constituencies, knowledge of information and technology issues, and fit with the institution's vision of the future. The guide discusses how to review CVs and other sources of information for these attributes and typical career paths for directors.

Interviews provide the best opportunity to evaluate candidates and their fit with the institution, while allowing candidates to learn about the job and the institution. They should include key persons with whom the position interacts and representatives of the library's constituencies. The guide addresses the structure of interviews and preparation for them.

The hiring decision appraises the knowledge, skills, competencies, and personality of candidates to identify the persons most likely to achieve the future vision for the library. The process of making the job offer should include negotiation of terms of employment that will be attractive to the candidate and provide resources to help meet institutional goals. The appointment and orientation of the new director is a final part of the recruitment process that contributes to long-term retention.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Recruiting and selecting the new director of an academic health sciences library is an important task for an institution. The position has multifaceted responsibilities and interacts with a wide range of constituencies in an environment of increasing technical, financial, and political complexity. Consequently, the job demands a unique combination of leadership skills and experience. These talents are especially important in today's rapidly changing health care environment and uncertain economic climate, as library directors face difficult choices in allocating resources and setting priorities to further the institutional mission. In addition, data collected by the Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries (AAHSL) indicate that a large number of positions will continue to be open now and over the next decade, due to retirements and the emergence of new institutions.

AAHSL has produced this guide to assist institutions in the recruitment process. University administrators, professional recruiters, and search committees may consult it for guidance at various stages of the search. Current and future directors may also find it valuable in developing the pool of the next generation of leaders.

Recruitment of an academic health sciences library director is comparable to searches for other senior academic leadership positions, such as deans and department chairs. Strategies for finding and assessing candidates, the structure of the interviews, and resources devoted to the process will be similar to those used in other senior academic leadership searches. Candidates for all positions at this level must possess leadership qualities in addition to specific experience or technical expertise. Just as with other senior positions, input from relevant campus and external constituencies will strengthen the process [1-5].

Each institution is unique. The size and units comprising the academic health center, the relationship of the library to the university library and to information technology departments, the responsibility of the library for networks or other enterprises, and the campus and regional environment will all influence what kind of director is sought. Library directors working in an academic setting tend to work across a broader spectrum of research. AAHSL serves as a community for these directors by providing a community of people managing health sciences information resources and data in academic settings; and advancing data management practices to share knowledge and experiences with others. This guide provides information and guidelines that can be customized to specific circumstances. To understand how their library compares to other academic health sciences libraries, institutions may find it useful to consult the annual AAHSL statistics [6].

Manuals for recruiting university administrators and university library directors also contain valuable information and are noted in the bibliography [7-12]. They provide detailed descriptions of the process involved in administrative searches in the academic environment and should be consulted for general guidance. This guide will emphasize what is important in filling the key position of an academic health sciences library director.

#### ACADEMIC HEALTH SCIENCES ENVIRONMENT

The academic health sciences library's primary role is to support, serve, and help define the mission of its parent institution in its use and deployment of knowledge and information- based resources and services in a changing health care environment. This role remains paramount despite substantial environmental changes including the emergence of new institutions, changes in health system organization and structure, and reporting changes in academic libraries. In order to fulfill this role effectively, the library's leadership must not only have command of the business of information management, but must also thoroughly understand the institution's business. The library is at the intersection of major challenges in the health care delivery system, higher education, biomedical research, computer and communications technology, and scholarly communication. As the institution develops and implements policies and practices in all these areas, the library must be able to anticipate and respond to information needs in a way that advances the goals of the institution [13].

The library partners with its academic health center in achieving institutional success and excellence through building relationships for effective knowledge management in the four primary missions: clinical practice, education, research, and community service [14]. New roles have developed for libraries that focus on clinical and research data management and participation on teams to support research and clinical care. Implicit in all library relationships is the provision of technology and services applied to information resources and data creation, curation, storage, and access. Future library leaders must be change agents and have the ability to navigate education, clinical, and research trends to tailor resources and services to their institutions. Examples of current trends include the integration of information resources into the electronic health record, systematic review services, consumer and patient education, and the development and deployment of technologies supporting teaching, research and health care.

#### **ROLE OF DIRECTOR**

Directors hold positions of broad responsibility and high visibility. They support all the missions-education, research, clinical practice, and community service-of their institutions. They work with all components of the academic health center-schools, hospitals, centers-and often external communities as well. Directors need to be knowledgeable about information issues, and they are responsible for envisioning the future of the library and working to achieve that future. They must be able to communicate effectively and persuasively with all their constituencies to build a shared vision for the library. They must function successfully in a political environment to secure the support necessary to attain that vision. They must develop a campus-wide visibility for the library that will ensure priority status for library resource needs and program development [15].

The extensive range of leadership skills identified as important in business and academic settings [16-21] is also applicable to directors of academic health sciences libraries. Their potential leadership roles include [22]:

- acting as chief representative and spokesperson for the library
- participating in institutional governance
- functioning as liaison with stakeholders within and outside the institution
- monitoring critical issues in the external environment
- negotiating and advocating for the library
- fund-raising and grantsmanship
- leading library planning, operations, and staff
- supporting active learning among staff
- communicating effectively within the library and without
- acting as change agent and entrepreneur; promoting and leading innovation
- team-building
- working across boundaries (influencing without authority
- allocating resources, and
- advancing the profession through publication and leadership in national associations.

There are different models for the organizational structure in which the director position operates. In addition to traditional library services, areas that may fall within the director's purview include academic or research computing, informatics, educational technologies, knowledge management, and repositories for publications, data, and archives. Directors may oversee other library organizations such as regional consortia or networks. The most extensive example of this is the National Network of Libraries of Medicine, which extends both fiduciary and service responsibilities to selected academic health sciences libraries throughout the U.S. The scope of library services, including outreach to the community, may differ in public and private institutions; and may encompass library services to subsidiary or partner institutions. The AAHSL Statistics may provide helpful information about comparable libraries.

The reporting relationship may also take different forms. Directors often report to an officer in the academic health center, such as a provost, vice chancellor, vice president, or dean. In institutions where libraries are part of the university library system, directors can report to the university librarian, or there may be a dual reporting relationship with a health center administrator. Whatever the organizational norm for the reporting structure, the director will also

need to function in a professional context that requires numerous informal linkages and collaboration. For example, libraries today often leverage their resources through joint licensing of electronic resources, and the director must establish and sustain such relationships over time.

Particular institutional circumstances will influence the background sought in candidates, including educational credentials or experience. A variety of position titles reflects the range of responsibilities the position is expected to assume. In addition to director and associate university librarian, sample titles include assistant dean for academic information, associate dean for information resources and systems, associate vice president for educational resources, and assistant vice chancellor for library services and instructional technology.

#### ANALYSIS OF VACANCY

A vacancy in the director's position affords an opportunity for the institution to assess its current needs and the future direction of library and information management services. Rather than assuming continuation of the status quo, it is a worthwhile exercise to examine and articulate the institution's current view of the role of the library and the position. This analysis will determine the background and skills needed in a director as well as help the institution describe the environment clearly to candidates. If the analysis is done before the appointment of the search committee, it is important that the committee has an understanding of the outcome.

Administrators and search committees should seek expert advice in their analysis of the position. The incumbent director can be a valuable source for information on library activities and resources, trends in the field, and potential candidates. Depending on individual circumstances, a consultant may fill the role of the incumbent or may supplement it with an independent perspective. It is important for the committee to reserve for itself the tasks related to evaluating candidates.

A consultant may be asked to perform one or more functions, depending on the particular needs of the institution:

- evaluate the library, current resources, and expectations of clientele
- advise on the future vision for the library
- help define job requirements to achieve the vision
- identify qualified individuals
- communicate with potential candidates.

Consultants may be identified through a recommendation by the incumbent director or by contacting colleagues in other institutions, who can ask for suggestions from the directors of their libraries. It is important to check the background and reputation of potential consultants. The agreement with the consultant should spell out what assistance is desired and guidelines for time and compensation.

Recruiters or search firms are another possible source of assistance. Their services include promoting the vacancy to potential candidates, packaging information about the institution and library, and conducting preliminary interviews [12]. Some institutions find that search firms are helpful in identifying candidates who are most likely to match the institution's needs; and in meeting the institution's timeline. If this option is considered, the institution should decide whether it will be more effective for the search committee or the search firm to perform these functions.

Another facet of the vacancy analysis is review of the status and salary of the position. Establishing these at an appropriate level will affect the quality of the candidate pool. Salaries should be considered in the context of peer positions in the institution as well as norms in the profession. A summary of salary data for AAHSL institutions provides overall information. It is included in this guide and is updated annually. Salaries, of course, are influenced by geographic location, institution, and other factors, as well as individual qualifications.

Some institutions choose to appoint an internal candidate without conducting a full recruitment process. The goal of such a promotion should be the same—to find the best person for the position. The institution should still take advantage of the opportunity to reconsider goals and direction and the kind of leader needed. It should also weigh giving up the potential benefits of a search process in strengthening the national standing of the library and the successful candidate. A search can benefit the institution and enhance the new director's perceived competence on campus and in the external library community. If the institution ultimately feels that the best course of action is to appoint from within, it can still take advantage of this guide in coming to that decision and in negotiating with and appointing the director.

#### **SEARCH COMMITTEE**

The responsible administrator should recognize the importance of appointing the search committee as soon as possible. The time required to conduct the search and for the successful candidate to arrive is almost always underestimated. Although an interim director may be appointed, it is in everyone's interest to move quickly toward a permanent situation. An expeditious search and a reasonable interim arrangement convey to the outside world that an organization is well run and a desirable place to work. Protracted searches or long-term interim appointments cause applicants to view potential employers with concern.

The search committee should be representative of the constituencies the library supports. Its composition will vary according to local circumstances, but consideration ought to be given to including the following:

- members from the professional schools and hospitals served by the library;
- members from among different categories of users including educators, administrators, researchers, clinicians, and students;
- someone with library expertise such as a member of the library staff who can provide an internal perspective and a channel for communication of non-confidential information with staff. Library expertise can also be contributed by someone from another campus library, a library and information science school, or a regional network.

Given the wide range of interaction with the position, it may seem equitable to include representatives from every group. This must be tempered, however, by the need to keep the committee to a size that can conduct its work effectively and communicate well with one another. Other means of soliciting input, through information gathering and participation in candidate interviews, can substitute for direct representation on the committee.

Publications by the Association of American Medical Colleges and the American Association for Higher Education provide further guidance on search committees, including the composition, chair appointment, charge, and ground rules [7,9]. A study of the selection of university library directors describes common characteristics of successful searches and the role of the search committee and administration [22].

The search committee chair typically is the principal contact for candidates with the institution, or an institutional human resources officer who is advised by the committee. The committee's attention to effective communication can be very influential in generating interest and presenting the institution in a positive light. This communication should span the entire process, from contacting potential applicants to appointment. Candidates report the importance of being kept informed at all stages, including lulls in activity, and of establishing personal contact with someone. One search committee employed a successful strategy of assigning a member of the search committee to each candidate to be responsible for ongoing interaction.

#### **POSITION QUALIFICATIONS**

Careful crafting of a vacancy description will be useful to the search committee throughout the recruitment process. It communicates to candidates the vision of the position, shapes the applicant pool, and is a guide for evaluation of candidates. The description should include information about the institution defining the environment in which the library director will be expected to lead, the specific knowledge, skills, and abilities that the library director needs, and the desired education, experience, and attributes for applicants for the position.

The customary terminal degree for librarians is a master's degree in library and information science from a program accredited by the American Library Association (ALA). Other degrees may also add to the candidates' preparation for a director's position, such as M.B.A.s or M.P.A.s, or an advanced degree in medical informatics or a similar field. Whether or not to require or prefer additional degrees will depend on the particular responsibilities of the position. However, doing so will also narrow the pool of qualified candidates or weight the search toward educational qualifications.

The experience requirements may address the setting in which the candidate's experience has taken place, length of experience, progressive nature of duties, characteristics of responsibilities, and knowledge of topics. Related personal qualities are also often included. As with all job notices, the stated requirements need to be balanced. The goal is to help focus the candidate pool and indicate what is important to the institution, but not immediately eliminate candidates with potential. Reducing the size of the pool will occur again when applications are screened.

#### **RECRUITING CANDIDATES**

Recruitment employs dual strategies— broad-scale advertising and focused contacts [9]. Advertising has the potential to reach a wide audience and locate qualified individuals otherwise unidentified and also helps ensure that all candidates are given a fair opportunity to consider the position. AAHSL lists on its web site postings of <u>current vacancies for directors</u> that are provided by the institutions. In addition, vacancies can be advertised in online job listings and e-mail distribution lists of other professional associations. Resources listing employment opportunities are available in online and sometimes print versions. The choices will depend on the characteristics of the job, but an effort should be made to notify a broad audience. Institutions may have additional requirements for recruitment. Recommendations for possible locations for postings have been compiled by AAHSL and are included in this document.

Advertisements will be supplemented by focused contacts with individuals. Personal communication can be used to ask for recommendations and to encourage individuals to consider the position. This can take the form of letters to members of a group, such as AAHSL. Communication is particularly effective when it is directed to persons identified as especially qualified candidates. This communication should be as individualized as possible, initiated by one or more persons, such as the committee chair, with telephone or other follow-up tailored to the person. If homework is done before and after the contact, personal communication can be the most fruitful source of candidates.

Current directors of other academic health sciences libraries are one source for identification of potential candidates. They may be able to recommend qualified individuals. They are familiar with their peers and have often assisted colleagues in taking on broader responsibilities and in acquiring skills that will prepare them for leadership roles. Since 2002, AAHSL has co-sponsored with the National Library of Medicine a program to identify and develop candidates for director, the NLM/AAHSL Leadership Fellows Program.

Efforts to encourage applications from minority and women candidates are undertaken in the context of the potential pool. Although the makeup of professionals employed in health sciences libraries, and in the library profession as a whole, has historically been predominantly white and female, a somewhat more diverse group is entering the pipeline of graduates and library leadership positions. The Association of Research Libraries, which includes some academic medical libraries, reported in 2015 that 80% of its medical library directors were female [24]. Of all AAHSL directors reporting in 2016, 78.7% were female and 17.7% were non-white. Search committees and recruiting firms should consider advertising and contacts targeted to identify and encourage minority applicants. Current data on gender and race and ethnicity of librarians are maintained and available from professional organizations [6,23,24].

Networking and recruiting opportunities need to be cultivated as part of everyday institutional activities and a diversity and inclusion plan in order to be effective at the time of a search [25].

Search committees and recruiting firms should seek to maximize the pool of qualified candidates from the beginning. Many other senior positions in academic health centers enjoy a larger potential pool of applicants than is true for library directors. Consequently, it is advisable to undertake a wide range of recruitment approaches.

#### SCREENING APPLICANTS

Search committees and recruiting firms will want to evaluate applications for these positions by emphasizing different criteria than they might use for other senior administrative positions in the academic health center. Search committees and recruiters may be accustomed to making the first cut of applicants by examining CVs for academic degrees, record of publications and grant awards, and education and experience at peer institutions. More important for library director positions is evaluation of how the candidates evidence leadership ability, their capability of relating to constituencies, knowledge of information and technology issues, and fit with the institution's vision of the future. This requires an in-depth review of CVs and other sources of information.

Candidates need to have an overall mastery of library functions and involvement in broader information issues. The particular content of their technical expertise is not as important as the ability to lead and to negotiate the place of the library in the institution and the community. They need to be good managers of people and technologies, and their familiarity with issues such as scholarly communication, information licensing, information costs, and copyright will enable them to position the library effectively. Their ability to secure institutional and external funding, to manage a complex budget, and to communicate a funding plan with a high return on investment will help determine the library's success. They must be able to speak the languages of the communities the library serves, including understanding issues relevant to clinical information systems and data curation. If the institution is seeking candidates with a medical informatics rather than a library background, it is important to consider the person's service and teaching orientation and knowledge of the acquisition, management, and utilization of information resources.

Search committees and recruiters should look at the range of areas and the breadth of responsibility that candidates have had in their current and prior positions and at their experience in interacting with groups outside the library. The candidates' record of professional activities can be reviewed for evidence of further involvement with information issues and leadership in professional associations. These are valuable not only for the experience candidates gain but also as evidence of their visibility to peers. Candidates can also demonstrate leadership and contact with constituencies through university service. The relevance and depth of these activities ought to be evaluated, not just their existence.

The conventional career path to an academic health sciences library director position may progress through a deputy or associate director position at a comparable library or may move from another director position, such as from a smaller to a larger library. In some libraries division or department heads may have had a level of responsibility analogous to deputy or associate director positions. Libraries are tending to create flatter organizational structures which may not provide the conventional growth opportunities described above. Depending on the organizational structure of the library, leadership roles may be defined in other ways as well. Search committees and recruiters should be open to consideration of candidates with other, more diverse, backgrounds or with nontraditional career paths to a directorship. Hospital library directors have expertise in information services in clinical and education settings and have made successful transitions to positions in academic libraries. Candidates may also come from other settings in the health environment or university library systems. In some cases, committees will want to be open to candidates without traditional experience or positions at the top level of leadership.

When positions do not require a library degree, more scrutiny should be paid to the candidates' understanding of both library and information technology environments. The decision to structure a job in this manner depends on the institution, including the areas of responsibility assigned to the position, as well as the qualifications of the individual. Librarianship is a good field, but not the only one, for developing senior managers. Librarians may also have degrees with an emphasis in information science or postgraduate education in informatics or have additional degrees in these areas.

Checking candidates' references is an essential part of evaluating applications. Inquiries can be made to references supplied by the candidate, with candidates' permission obtained to contact others. Structured telephone conversations with references should be conducted for the top group of candidates, in addition to written letters of reference that may be available. Further recommendations for telephone interviews and credential checks are available from the American Association for Higher Education [9].

#### **INTERVIEWS**

Interviews are a two-way process. They provide the best opportunity to evaluate candidates and their fit with the institution, and they also allow the candidates to learn about the job and potential coworkers at all levels in the parent organization. In order to do this effectively, interviews involve the key persons with whom the position interacts and representatives of the library's constituencies. The search committee, the person to whom the position reports, deans or representatives of professional schools and hospitals, library staff, and library users should be included in the interview schedule. The interview is also the opportunity to include those who may have partnerships with the library, such as other libraries, library school, area hospital libraries, regional network, institutional peers, information technology departments, and disciplines that may be important locally such as telemedicine or distance learning. The incumbent director usually is not involved in the evaluation of candidates.

The savvy candidate expects to meet, at some point during the interview process, with the key persons who determine the future of the institution and are most responsible for the library. These may include the president, vice president, deans, and budget and information officers.

The structure of the interviews should parallel those for other senior administrators. They will usually require two days and should include both formal and informal settings. Both small group and one-on-one sessions may be employed as appropriate. Typically, the candidates will be asked to make a presentation or lead an open forum, where they can demonstrate public communication skills. These sessions will also allow more people to participate in the interviews. Some institutions will bring back final candidates for a second interview.

Care needs to be taken that interviewers are prepared with information about candidates, desired characteristics, any special areas to be covered by them, and awareness of basic protocol for interviewing. Procedures for collecting evaluative comments from participants for review by the search committee should be clear.

Prior to the interview, candidates should be provided with comprehensive information about the position and the community. During the interview, they ought to be made as comfortable as possible. It is important not to overlook courtesies such as transportation, introductions, accompanying candidates to meeting locations, and breaks in the schedule.

The most important trait for interviewers is the ability to listen. Interviewers should focus on relevant past performance, ask follow-up questions, keep the interview on track, and allow candidates to do most of the talking. Biebuyck and Mallon emphasize the importance of interviewing for leadership qualities [7]. Pritchard provides examples of topics for inquiry that will elicit information on management, leadership, and political skills of library director candidates [12]. Fear's work is a helpful source for further discussion of interviewing technique in general situations [26], and Arthur discusses competency-based interviewing [27].

Interviews are successful when they help both the institution and the candidate decide whether their partnership would be successful. In addition to the two-way evaluation process, interviews can promote a positive message about the role of the position and the library as well as about the institutional culture and faculty support and development, involve library constituencies, and begin building future relationships with the director. Search committees need to be sensitive when there are internal candidates for the position [28]. Internal candidates should be treated in the same manner as external candidates, as part of a national search, with the same interview and equal consideration. Care also needs to be taken before, during, and after the interview about what is said in public about the search. In most cases, internal candidates should not participate in interviews of other candidates.

#### **NEGOTIATION AND APPOINTMENT**

The search committee's discussion and deliberation in preparation for its recommendation to the appointing officer are based on its own assessment, analysis of comments of interviewers, and careful review of the earlier research on the candidates. Follow-up queries to check on any new questions may be needed. The results are evaluated in the context of the preliminary analysis of the position and requirements. The best decision appraises the knowledge, skills, competencies, and personality of the persons that will make them most likely to achieve the future vision for the library.

The process of making the offer reflects the values of the institution. The appointing officer, who makes the final decision and extends the offer to the successful candidate, continues to sell the job and signal the resources the institution is willing to devote to the library. Among other points, the appointing officer can articulate the match between the institution and the candidate, the advantages of being a member of the institution's leadership team, and the nature of the relationship with the officer [3]. Personal assistance in facilitating employment for a spouse or partner and relocation can also influence the candidate expect to negotiate terms of employment. The candidate will have ideas regarding resources and conditions that would help in meeting institutional goals, based on what was learned about the library during the recruitment process, past experiences, and knowledge of other academic health centers. One good source of comparative data on academic health sciences libraries is the annual AAHSL statistics [6].

The negotiation phase is an appropriate time to reach agreement on individual terms and library conditions. Possible negotiation points include:

- salary and other compensation
- moving allowance
- title and faculty status
- start and length of term of appointment
- criteria for performance evaluation and conditions of termination
- reporting relationship(s)
- responsibilities of position and units reporting to the library director
- adjustments to library staffing levels
- one-time or ongoing adjustments to library budget for staff, collections, orother expenses.

The final offer letter or letter of appointment reflects these understandings.

The appointment is a chance to welcome the new director and pave the way for successful entry into the new environment. The other candidates, especially internal ones, and library staff ought to be notified before the public announcement is made. The announcement, focusing attention on the qualifications of the individual and on the enterprise of the library, contributes to positive expectations for the appointment. A plan to orient the new director is also valuable. Introductions to colleagues in the institution and the community will make it easier for the director to begin professional acquaintances, and a mentor arranged by the appointing officer can provide guidance on institutional policies and norms. These final steps in the recruitment process will pay dividends in getting the director off to a good start and to long-term retention.

Retention is an important component of recruitment. Ongoing attention to the importance of the position, adequate resources, and communication with other senior administrators will also influence the ability to keep good directors. Although more than a quarter of current AAHSL directors are new to their positions within the past three years, projections of anticipated vacancies in coming years suggest that institutions will face challenges both in recruiting and retaining top-notch directors [29].

#### REFERENCES

**1.** Gilmore TN. Making a leadership change: how organizations and leaders can handle leadership transitions successfully. iUniverse, 2003.

**2.** Mallon WT. The current state and future possibilities of recruiting leaders of academic health centers. Academic Medicine 2012 Sep;87 (9): 1171-1176.

**3.** Sessa VI, Taylor JJ. Executive selection: strategies for success. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass, 2000.

**4.** Bugg K. Best practices for talent acquisition in 21<sup>st</sup>-century academic libraries. Library Leadership & Management 2015 08; 29 (4):1-4.

**5.** Conger JA, Riggio RE. The practice of leadership; developing the next generation of leaders. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass, 2007.

**6.** Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries. Annual statistics of medical school libraries in the United States and Canada. 39<sup>th</sup> ed. Seattle, WA, 2017.

**7.** Biebuyck JF, Mallon WT. The successful medical school department chair: a guide to good institutional practice. Module 1: Search, selection, appointment, transition. Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges, 2002.

**8.** Mallon WT, Corrice A. Leadership recruiting practices in academic medicine: how medical schools and teaching hospitals search for new department chairs and center directors.

Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges, 2009.

https://members.aamc.org/eweb/upload/Leadership%20Recruitment%20%20in%20Academic%2 0Medicine.pdf

**9.** Marchese TJ, Lawrence JF. The search committee handbook: a guide to recruiting administrators. 2d ed. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education, 2005.

**10.** Armstrong NA. The search for a law library director. Law Library Journal 2006 Spring;98(2):253-67.

**11.** Kirk T. Hiring a library director. Library Issues: Briefings for Faculty and Administrators 2007 Sep;28(1) online suppl. <u>http://www.libraryissues.com/pub/September07%20Online%20Supplement.pdf</u>

**12.** Pritchard SM, Marquardt S. Looking for director goodboss: how to recruit a head librarian. Library Issues: Briefings for Faculty and Administrators 2000 Sep;21(1):1-9.

**13.** Watson LA. Health sciences environment. In: McClure LW, ed. Health sciences environment and librarianship in health sciences libraries. New York, NY: Medical Library Association and Forbes Custom Publishing, 1999:1-29. (Current practice in health sciences librarianship, v. 7.)

**14.** Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries. Building on success: charting the future of knowledge management within the academic health center. Seattle, WA, 2003[reprinted 2014] <a href="http://www.aahsl.org/assets/documents/Building-On-Success.pdf">http://www.aahsl.org/assets/documents/Building-On-Success.pdf</a>

**15.** Hernon P, Powell RR, Young AP. University library directors in the Association of Research Libraries: the next generation, part two. College & Research Libraries 2002 Jan;63(1):73-90.

**16.** Mallon WT, Grigsby RK. Leading: top skills, attributes, and behaviors critical for success. (AAMC successful medical school department chairs book 1). Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges, 2016.

**17.** Hecht IWD, Higgerson ML, Gmelch WH, Tucker A. The department chair as academic leader. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx Press, 1998. (American Council on Education/ Oryx Press series on higher education.)

**18.** Bennis W, O'Toole J. Don't hire the wrong CEO. Harvard Business Review 2000 May/Jun;78(3):171-6.

**19.** Maghroori R, Powers C. How to choose the right dean for your university: remembering the 5 p's of deanship. Change 2004 Mar/Apr;36(2):52-4.

**20.** Staines GM. Finding the best people in a tough economy: the role of knowledge, skills, abilities, attributes, and the challenges of the talent acquisition process. Library Leadership & Management 2012 07;26 (3): 1-13.

**21.** Soete G. Evaluating library directors: a study of current practice and a checklist of

recommendations. (Excerpt from ARL: OLMS occasional paper #21.) Washington, DC: Association of Research Libraries, 1998 <u>http://www.arl.org/focus-areas/court cases/1714#.V2hj-PkrJdg</u>

**22.** Person RJ, Newman GC. Selection of the university librarian. College & Research Libraries 1990 Jul;51:346-59.

**23.** Association for Library and Information Science Education. ALISE statistical report and database. Chicago, IL, 2010.

**24.** Association of Research Libraries. ARL annual salary survey 2014-2015. Washington, DC, 2015. http://publications.arl.org/ARL-Annual-Salary-Survey-2014-2015/

**25.** Swoboda MJ. Hiring women and minorities. In: Stein RH, Trachtenberg SJ, eds. The art of hiring in America's colleges and universities. Buffalo, NY: Prometheus Books, 1993:123-36.

**26.** Fear RA, Chiron RJ. The evaluation interview: how to probe deeply, get candid answers, and predict the performance of job candidates. 5th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2002.

**27.** Arthur D. Recruiting, interviewing, selecting & orienting new employees. 5th ed. New York, NY: AMACOM, American Management Association, 2012.

**28.** Barden DM. The internal-candidate syndrome. Chronicle of Higher Education 2008 5 May. <u>http://chronicle.com/article/The-Internal-Candidate/45809/</u>

**29.** Rooks DC. Terms for academic library directors. Library Trends 1994 Summer;43(1):47-61.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

As part of its charge to promote recruitment and development of first class leaders, the AAHSL Future Leadership for Academic Health Sciences Libraries Task Force, chaired by Patricia Mickelson, developed this guide, first published in 2002. Subsequent revisions were coordinated by the Future Leadership Committee and overseen by Carolyn Lipscomb (Project Manager). Carol Jenkins (Program Director), Teresa Knott, Darlene Parker-Kelly and Sandra Franklin (committee members) coordinated updating and revision of the 2016 edition. They express their appreciation to outside reviewers for their helpful suggestions. The guide continues to benefit from the suggestions of many members who review and use the guide.

#### SALARIES

The following information on salaries of directors is taken from the annual statistical compilation of the Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries [6]. Salary data for 2016-2017 are reported for 119 positions in libraries serving medical schools in the United States and Canada.

Salaries should be considered in the context of those of peer positions in the institution as well as norms in the profession. Salaries are also influenced by location, institutional characteristics (including its size and public/private status), and other factors, as well as individual qualifications.

The third quartile salary for library directors as reported in the AAHSL statistics is \$162,000 overall; for U.S. libraries only, the third quartile salary is \$165,071 (i.e., 25% of the respondents earn more than that amount). The mean salary is \$142,291 overall, \$142,842 in U.S. libraries; and the median is \$140,000 overall and in U.S. libraries, with a range from \$53,000 - \$255,040 overall and U.S. libraries.

The third quartile salaries vary by geographic area as follows:

-East:	\$182,764
–South:	\$151,664
–Midwest:	\$145,778
–West:	\$171,906
-Canada:	\$106,930

The third quartile salary for private institutions (46 of the reported positions, overall and in U.S.) is \$182,498 and for public institutions (73 of the reported positions overall including 67 in U.S.) is \$154,227.

On average, directors have 28 years of experience and supervise 21 FTE.

Composite AAHSL salaries are analyzed for the effect of variables of position level, years of experience, gender, geographic area, medical school type, and position permanence.

 Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries. Annual statistics of medical school libraries in the United States and Canada. 39<sup>th</sup> ed. Seattle, WA, 2017 (print edition to be published in April 2017; online version available to members at aahsl.ccr.buffalo.edu )

#### JOB POSTINGS

The following listing of locations for posting announcements of job vacancies is selective rather than comprehensive. It focuses primarily on publications and sites with a national audience and an orientation toward academic libraries or other relevant fields. There are many other employment sources that may be useful in some circumstances, including state and regional library associations, library and information studies programs, specialized library or other professional associations, state library agencies, joblines, and employment referral and conference placement services. Listings and descriptions of these sources are available [1.2].

Current information on deadlines, publication schedules, rates, options, and requirements can be obtained by checking the web sites or contacting the sponsoring groups.

*The primary sites that should be included for most searches are:* 

-Association of Academic Health Sciences Libraries (AAHSL), <u>office@aahsl.org</u>, 206/209-5261, fax 206/367-8777.

Announcements can be sent to the AAHSL Office for posting on their web site; mailing labels for current directors are available for a fee.

AAHSL members are academic health sciences libraries in academic health centers represented by directors of the libraries.

-Medical Library Association (MLA), <u>mlacom@mlahq.org</u>, 312/419-9094 x25 MLANET, <u>http://www.mlanet.org/jobs/</u> MLA includes institutions and individual members in the health sciences information field.

#### -AMIA, 301/657-1291

AMIA Career Center, <u>http://www.amia.org/career-center</u>

AMIA represents a community of professionals and students interested in informatics, across a continuum from basic and applied research to the consumer and public health arenas.

-Association of College and Research Libraries (ACRL), American Library Association (ALA), joblist@ala.org, 800/545-2433

ALA JobLIST, <u>http://joblist.ala.org</u>

A Service of the *American Libraries Association* and the *Association of College & Research Libraries* ACRL, a division of the American Library Association, is an association of academic library and information professionals serving the higher education community.

-Association of Research Libraries (ARL), <u>webmgr@arl.org</u>, 202/296-2296 ARL Job Residency/Internship Listings.

http://www.arl.org/leadership-recruitment/job-listings

ARL is an organization of libraries at comprehensive, research-extensive institutions in the US and Canada that share similar research missions, aspirations, and achievements

A selection from the following sites according to institutional needs and practice should augment the above:

-American Society for Information Science and Technology (ASIS&T), <u>asis@asis.org</u>, 301/495-0900

http://asist-jobs.careerwebsite.com/

ASIS&T counts among its membership information specialists from such fields as computer science, linguistics, management, librarianship, engineering, law, medicine, chemistry, and education.

-Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC), 202/828-0400 Careers at AAMC medical schools and teaching hospitals

http://careerconnect.aamc.org/

AAMC represents all accredited U.S. and Canadian medical schools, major teaching hospitals and health systems, and academic and scientific societies.

-Chronicle of Higher Education, 202/466-1050 Chronicle Careers, <u>http://chronicle.com/jobs/</u> redirects to <u>https://chroniclevitae.com/job\_search/new</u> *The Chronicle of Higher Education* is the source of news, information, and jobs for college and university faculty members and administrators.

*-HigherEd jobs*, 814/861-3080

<u>https://www.higheredjobs.com/</u> Faculty and administrative positions at colleges and universities

### -EDUCAUSE, 888/491-8833

Career Center, <u>http://jobs.educause.edu/jobs</u> Higher education information technology jobs EDUCAUSE is an association whose mission is to advance higher education through the use of information technology.

*—Insight into Diversity*, 314/200-9955 or 800/537-0655 Career Center, <u>http://careers.insightintodiversity.com/</u> Includes job listings in higher education, healthcare, government, and business.

–Library and Information Technology Association (LITA), division of American Library Association, 800/545-2433 x4269

Jobs in Library and Information Technology, <u>http://www.ala.org/lita/professional/jobs</u> LITA is a multi-type library organization concerned with interdisciplinary issues and emerging technologies within the library and information environment.

*–New York Times, Washington Post, Los Angeles Times* Examples of newspapers with national and regional jobs sections.

1. Calvin B, comp. Guide to employment sources in the library and information profession. Chicago, IL: Office for Human Resource Development and Recruitment, American Library Association, 2005.

http://www.ala.org/educationcareers/employment/resources/employmentguide05

**2.** House, Naomi, CEO. INALJ – Jobs for Librarians and Information Professionals <u>http://inalj.com/</u>